	The Edge of Darkness

	Call of Cthulhu RPG Game Log


“The Edge of Darkness”

Written by Keith Herber
Published in Call of Cthulhu — 5th Edition
Published by Chaosium, Inc. (August 1998)
Played on August 17th 1999 at Goblin’s Lair, Lisbon
Logged by Luís Rodrigues and Raquel Correia
Log edited by Luís Rodrigues
Epilogue by Ricardo Madeira
Adapted by Luís Rodrigues
Catering by Pizza Hut(
Cast of Characters

	Raquel Correia
	Veronique D’Arcy



	Luís Rodrigues
	Peter Patrick Lewis



	Ricardo Madeira
	Keeper of Arcane Lore

Mark Morrison

Anna Thomas

Prof. Rupert Merryweather

Prof. Gibbons

Joey “Rocket” Simmons

Vagabond

Undead Woman (Mrs. Willis)

General Store Clerk #1

General Store Clerk #2

Mrs. Merryweather


By the way, consider yourself warned…

HERE BE SPOILERS!

Prologue

Peter Patrick Lewis, professional burglar, has spent three months out of sight after having murdered an old woman
 with a sledgehammer. Still tormented by remorse, he returns to Arkham on the day before this adventure, only to find what remained of his life in a complete shambles.

Veronique D’Arcy is a new character, and as such she has had no previous Call of Cthulhu RPG experiences yet. Veronique is a young French lady with a very cute accent. She owns an antique shop and drives around in a stylish BMW Z3.

Thursday, August 12th 1999

08.00 a.m. – Veronique D’Arcy parks her swanky BMW Z3 in front of her antique shop on 421, Main Street, in Arkham. Ye Olde Pilgrim it is called, and specializes in war related material. Ranging from a wide assortment of weapons and armour, to beautiful renditions of medieval battles, if she hasn’t got it, then you don’t want it.

She checks her mail upon arrival, and finds a letter from a former History teacher of hers, Rupert Merryweather. Professor Merryweather says in the letter than he is extremely ill at St. Mary’s Teaching Hospital and requests her presence, tomorrow at 1 p.m. sharp, for a matter of the utmost urgency.

10.00 a.m. – Peter Patrick Lewis wakes to the sound of his stomach in the lousy rented room that is now his home. He readies himself to go outside for some breakfast and to look for a new job, preferably one that keeps him away from crime . . . or from jail, at any rate. He finds an abandoned newspaper at the bus stop and browses the employment section, but finds nothing of interest. He remembers his friends in Arkham, so he decides to go to Joey Rocket’s garage and see whether he needs a hand at auto repair.

Some minutes later, Peter arrives at Joey’s. He hears the heavy pounding of a hammer striking metal, and heavy language when that same hammer hits something rather more organic. Joey comes out from under a car, sucking at his fingers, and shows surprise in seeing his friend. They talk for a while and Joey agrees to employ Peter if he proves himself fit for the job.

He also tells Peter that he has been keeping his mail ever since he went away three months ago. He goes to fetch it from the back office and hands Peter both letters. The one that isn’t advertisement is a fairly recent missive from one Rupert Merryweather. Peter recalls Professor Merryweather as a customer from the bar, with whom he used to talk a bit, but the last time he saw him was over one year ago. From the contents of the letter, Peter understands that the old man is very sick at the hospital, and wishes to be visited tomorrow so they can discuss something important.

Meanwhile, D’Arcy waits for her employee Paul Simpson to arrive and relieve her in taking care of the shop. He finally turns up, so she leaves in her snazzy BMW Z3 to scrutinise the various antique shops throughout the city.

05.00 p.m. – D’Arcy closes her shop and stays there for a long while, inspecting (and admiring) the inventory. Afterwards, she goes back to her home on the 3rd floor of 920, French Hill Street, for a good night’s sleep. At least, as good as she can have without a man.

10.30 p.m. – Peter goes back to his small room; he is dead tired from his first day of work.

Friday, August 13th 1999

07.50 a.m. – D’Arcy arrives early at her shop, as she likes to be the first to come and last one to leave.

09.00 a.m. – Peter goes to work. He feels that another day of piling up old tires looms ahead.

12.55 p.m. – D’Arcy and Peter head for St. Mary’s Teaching Hospital. She goes in her speedy BMW Z3, whereas he trudges his way there. They turn up at the same time, and Veronique follows Peter into the building, still unaware they are there with the same purpose.

At the reception desk, Peter asks for Merryweather’s room and is given a visitor’s pass. D’Arcy overhears the conversation but says nothing. She can’t help feeling that she already knows him, in a way that she can’t quite put her finger on.

As soon as the scoundrel’s short frame scrambles up the stairs, D’Arcy asks for a visitor’s pass in her cute French accent. She manages to catch up with Peter in a no time, and keeps tracking him to the Professor’s room. Peter feels like he is being followed, but pays no notice, mostly because he feels that way all the time.

13.02 p.m. – D’Arcy and Peter reach Rupert Merryweather’s room only within a short delay. However, the Professor does not appear to be at all concerned with punctuality, since he is already using up a great deal of concentration in keeping his innards holding together. The good Professor had been diagnosed throat cancer and prospects of recovery are not at all famous.

Within the room are two other individuals: Merryweather’s soon-to-be widow
 and a tall wiry man who is supposedly their son.
 They politely make the acquaintance of the two investigators, who reply in accordance and slowly approach the Professor’s side.

In a low, cracked murmur, Professor Merryweather requests his family to leave the room. D’Arcy speaks softly to him, inquiring about the reason of their summoning to the Hospital. The Professor begins to mutter something but is interrupted when a well-dressed man in his forties ambles into the room.

This character addresses everyone in a respectful fashion and greets Merryweather as an old friend. D’Arcy is charmed by his charisma, but Peter does not seem too keen about the glint in his eyes. He finally presents himself as Mark Morrison, a prosperous and successful computer engineer working for Microsoft Corporation.

Professor Merryweather starts talking again in a feeble tone, and demands that the door to the chamber should be closed. Mark shuts it with a soft click, and returns to the Professor. D’Arcy pulls herself a chair.

With the investigators assembled around him, Merryweather whispers the reason that brought them there. All have crossed Merryweather’s life in one way or the other and he feels that they would be suitable for the task he will propose.

Merryweather then begins telling the story of how he, along with a young man named Allen Marion and four other college friends, tried to call upon an occult entity over forty years before, and how that reckless action wreaked mayhem and sorrow in their lives. Their enquiries into the paranormal usually took place in an old farm purchased in the June of 1955 by Marion and located in Ross Corners, a small village near Arkham.

Their rituals were met with utter failure until the next March. That month witnessed the final ceremony and the bloody dissolution of the group, which had been neatly called Black Brotherhood by their teenager members. In that last ritual, they indeed managed to summon something, some horrid spawn of another world.

Taken by panic, the youths foolishly abandoned the house instead of banishing the creature back to whence it had come, and it was so that that farm in Ross Corners remained haunted until present day.

The Professor also says that the only thing keeping the foul entity trapped in the farm is the array of signs and sigils carved around the doors and windows by the group. However, that enchantment will only endure as long as the last member of the Brotherhood lives, and Merryweather is the last one. After his death, the hideous creature would be free to roam the Earth. He gasps for breath, and begs the investigators to visit the farm and perform the ritual of banishment before it is too late.

Peter can’t help but sneer at the sound of such things, and states that he himself has no belief whatsoever in the occult. D’Arcy concurs with his statement, though with certain reserve. However, they all agree to take a look at the house in the farm, so that the old professor can be at peace.

The old man smiles to himself and points at a metal box lying on a table, asking to have it. As Peter reaches for it, Merryweather begins to cough convulsively, arching his weak body forward and groaning in pain. D’Arcy gets up and presses the button on the wall that calls a nurse. Mark goes outside, on the look for a doctor. Suddenly, Merryweather spits a revolting mass of blood and dead tissue that stains D’Arcy’s clothes. There is silence and the Professor falls unconscious backwards.

A small group of doctors and nurses burst into the room, and attend the agonising Merryweather, while another nurse drives the investigators out. D’Arcy is sickened at the patches of blood in her dress and tries to rub them off with a clean tissue. Peter Patrick Lewis, and his innate ability for having stuff mysteriously glued to his hands, carries the metal box away with him.

Back in the corridor, the three investigators find a bench in which they can sit down to examine the contents of the box. Peter lays the thing on his knees and opens it. Within they discover a golden miniature of an Egyptian sarcophagus, a yellowed envelope with something bulky inside, and a small leather-bound notebook.

Mark takes the sarcophagus and inspects it. He says that it looks like gold and that there are rows of hieroglyphs carved around the sides. Peter replies that not only it looks like gold, it even smells like it and no mistake in that. D’Arcy reaches for the sarcophagus and snatches it from Mark’s hands. It appears to be another box, and she gingerly opens it. This one is empty, however there are strange symbols etched on the inner part of the top cover. They certainly don’t look Egyptian, but the group still can’t make anything out of them.

In a swift move, because she has a knack for palming stuff as well, Veronique D’Arcy rams the sarcophagus into her purse and hopes the others are distracted enough not to notice. Unfortunately for the young lady, she is caught in the act and Peter demands keeping the object himself for safety purposes.
 D’Arcy answers back, and refuses to let go of it. Curiously enough, she also alleges similar reasons.

Peter tries to stare at her menacingly, but only goes as far as to give her the look on a puppy’s face when the rubber bone is taken away from him. Frustrated, he turns to the sad and not at all glittery contents of the box on his lap.

Peter Lewis fishes the envelope from the metal case and peeks inside. It holds a large key and an old document like a deed for a plot of land, doubtless the farm at Ross Corners. Setting these items aside, he grabs the notebook and runs his eyes through its many handwritten pages. It appears to be some sort of logbook or diary relating the secretive activities at Ross Corners, from the setting up of the Brotherhood to the tragic conclusion of their experiments.

Peter says he’d like to read the book in a quiet place, and D’Arcy suggests that they go to a small café across the University campus. It is lunchtime and so the rest of the group agrees, as they could use something to eat. They walk the University premises, discussing the strangeness of the task at hand. Peter is still reluctant to visit the farm and perform a senseless ritual, but agrees to fulfil the dying man’s wishes.

14.30 p.m. – Having had a somewhat meagre lunch, Peter leans back on his seat and begins reading the book. In the meantime, D’Arcy had left to go home and change her bloodstained garments. She also arranged to go with Mark to the History Department afterwards, where they intended to learn more about the sarcophagus miniature.

The Brotherhood diary rabbits on about things Peter does not care about, yet still he keeps reading it as if enticed by a sort of morbid curiosity. He learns the details about the purchase of the farm, the cleaning up of the house and the carving of the so-called symbols of protection around every door and window of the place. Afterwards come the rituals, all of them blatantly unsuccessful.

Peter finds everything both hollow and contemptible. There is, however, an entry around February of 1956 that snatches his attention: it refers to the «exciting acquisition» of a small Egyptian box by the late Allen Marion, leader of the Brotherhood. This artefact was first introduced to Marion in an old book that he had uncovered in the halls of the Miskatonic University Library. It says there that inside the gold box there was a large piece of amber containing a small insect or arthropod-like creature.

By this time, Mark Morrison and freshly clothed Veronique D’Arcy step into the History Department of the Miskatonic University, looking for anyone qualified enough to make sense of the inscriptions on the Egyptian box. Unfortunately, it is summer holiday, not to mention lunchtime, thus the whole building is practically empty. They manage to find a stray assistant professor and ask him for aid. He directs them to the Library, where he believes may be someone who can lend them a hand.

Back in the café, Peter hesitates to leave. He thought that his companions would be back to pick him up and pay for the lunch, but now he begins to realise that the expense will lie on him after all. Peter makes up his mind to pay up and scuttles off to the Library in search of the book mentioned by Allen Marion in the diary. If he can prove that the artefact is undeniably genuine, he could be in for a small fortune. He also means to visit Anna Thomas, who works at the Library and is the woman he is deeply in love with. He misses her after the previous three months of absence; it will be good to see her again.

Meanwhile at the Library, Mark comes across Anna Thomas. They embrace each other and crush their lips together in a passionate kiss.
 Mark introduces his girlfriend to Veronique, who in turn asks for someone who can translate hieroglyphs, and picks up her cue to leave the two lovers by themselves.

The librarian points to a lean individual sitting at one of the reading tables in the east hall and tells D’Arcy that is Professor Gibbons, who may be of some help in understanding the ciphers. D’Arcy thanks Anna for the suggestion and goes talk to the man.

Professor Gibbons looks up from the book he was reading and greets D’Arcy. She responds courteously and requests some assistance in translating the designs in the golden sarcophagus box, which she reveals out of her bag.

Gibbons takes a thorough look at the miniature and informs her that it appears to be quite genuine. After observing the hieroglyphs for a couple of minutes, the man pulls out a blank paper and jots down a crude translation:

	Worship to thee, he who rests in peace,
Servant of Nar-Loth-Hotep, Child of Thoth,
Leader to the Dwellers of the Nether World,
Master of Spirits, and He Who Never Dies.
Deliver from the Nether World all who praise thee
and may thy fury befall the unworthy.




Mark arrives.

Professor Gibbons is however intrigued by the inner inscription. He is unable to understand the strange characters; they are not like anything he has ever seen. They could have been carved following the artefact’s discovery, and he believes that they do not cast any doubts as to the authenticity of the miniature. 

Peter arrives at the Library and sees Anna. He goes straight to her and addresses her sweetly. They talk for a little while about what each of them has been doing during the last few months. He says he is missing her and that he is very happy to see her. Anna says nothing about Mark.

He asks for someone who can help him out with a book about Egyptian artefacts. Anna informs him that there is an Egyptology professor around, Gibbons, and that he would be able to enlighten him. Peter thanks Anna and sets off to see the man, not before saying he’d like to meet her later tonight.

Peter walks away, looking back at her beloved. He is taken aback when he watches Mark approach Anna and hold her in his arms. Lost in painful confusion, Peter hurries away to look for the professor and set his mind aside from reality for a while.

D’Arcy is still talking to professor Gibbons. Peter finds them and mentions a book containing allusions to the miniature, at the same time trying to conceal the breaks in his voice.

Mark arrives. D’Arcy tells him that there is a book mentioning the sarcophagus box, and that it would be a good idea to search for it. Peter tries to avoid looking at Mark and tells D’Arcy he’ll stay around so he can read the rest of the diary.

While scanning its many handwritten pages, Peter finds a reference to a book that is titled De Vermiis Mysteriis and explains the purpose and powers of the golden box. It says that the piece of amber is supposed to contain a friendly spirit of some sort, and that the Brotherhood intended to summon it sometime around mid-March:

	Saturday, March 14th 1956

We have commenced the ceremony as Allen taught us to, as it is explained in that book of his, «De Vermiis Mysteriis». A fire is burning in the hearth and the pentagram has been chalked on the ground, marked with the appropriate symbols and lighted by two black candles set in its center. Between the candles we’ve placed the piece of amber where the spirit is imprisoned. The others are already sitting in a circle (as always, Jane and Robert sit side by side), whereas I — the «sentinel» — stand in a corner of the room, attentive to evil spirits.

Allen throws a handful of dust into the fire, causing foul smoke to rise and the flames, now colored green and brown, to grow in intensity. Those who were sitting begin chanting the incantation in Latin that Allen had transcribed from the book.

Two hours have nearly passed. I can see a thin column of smoke rising from the piece of amber. Its surface appears to be melting and bubbling. What is this? Did we finally make it? I can make out a shape…

Sunday, March 15th 1956

We have given up our plans and promised never again to speak of what happened last night. We have managed to explain Robert’s death and, at least in part, Jane’s madness to the police. The sheriff bought our story about a road accident. We told him that Robert broke his neck while falling and that Jane knocked her head on a rock when their motorcycle crashed. If only that would be the truth… The rest of us will forever remain disturbed by what really happened last night.

The thing appeared in the center of the pentagram, formless and almost invisible. Its terrible voice should have made us realize its intentions, be we were foolish. The thing spoke and Allen threw that damned powder over the spirit, «the powder of Ibn-Ghazi» as he called it; and it was then that we saw it.

Mere words cannot describe that shapeless mass with a thousand mouths. It fizzed and rolled, never fully to reveal itself. The vision was so frightening that I could do nothing but sit there, as if frozen. My grasp faltered and I dropped the pen. Jane and Allen appeared as paralyzed as I was, while Crawford shouted in horror. Meanwhile, Robert got up and, before anyone could stop him, advanced to the creature as if to welcome our terrible guest. With one of its arms, or a feeler that resembled an arm, the thing clutched Robert and twisted his neck as if he were a dummy. His lifeless body was thrown over Jane and it was then that she started those horrible screams — and didn’t stop even after delivering her to the sheriff’s men.

We still had a chance, though. Allen says that if we had kept cool, we could have had reversed the chant and forced the creature back to its amber prison. However Crawford had panicked and, thinking that it would dismiss the spell, stepped forward and wiped out part of the pentagram, rendering it useless. Released from its prison, the thing — uttering a horrifying bellow that could have only been of unwholesome satisfaction — escaped through the attic trapdoor.

Allen believes the creature may be destroyed, or at least entrapped once more, but none of us has the guts to do such thing. We believe that the spell somehow confines the monster to the premises, as we noticed when we went there to get our stuff back and heard rustling noises from the attic. The signs of protection carved by Allen in happier days are indeed effective and prevent the beast from entering any room of the house excepting the attic. Poor Allen, he still blames himself for what happened to Robert and Jane.




Peter lets out a dispirited chuckle, but can’t help feeling a little disturbed at reading this. He also encounters sundry annotations and a newspaper clipping near the end of the diary:

	Robert Menkin, March 1956

Jane Copley, August 1956

Allen Marion, December 1957

Crawford Harris, January 1989

George Howard, October 1996

Rupert Merryweather
	Murder In The Docks

NEW ORLEANS – The corpse of Mr. Allen Marion (born in Arkham, MA) was discovered this morning in the docks. Several witnesses, who had observed Mr. Marion in the location on the night before, identified the deceased. Although the motive of the crime was apparently theft, the police report states that Mr. Marion’s tongue had been cut off. According to reliable sources, Marion had gone to the police earlier this week, complaining that he was being followed and that he feared for his life. He also said that his pursuers were after an Egyptian artifact that he no longer possessed.




	That which my friends and I have released into this world troubles me. So far nothing catastrophic has happened, but I fear that my death will shatter the links that confine the thing to the house, and then it will be free to wreak havoc wherever it may go. Lives not yet taken and blood not yet spilt are weighing down on my conscience. The method for delivering the world from that horror is still inside that cursed house: the transcription from the damned «De Vermiis Mysteriis» that was made by Allen, may God have mercy on his soul. I have no more strength to fulfill the task myself, but I know some who may be willing to do it for me. Should they fail, I pray to God for forgiveness…




In the Egyptology section of the Library, D’Arcy stumbles upon a book recounting a past Miskatonic University expedition to a pharaoh’s tomb, complete with full inventory listing of the dead king’s trinkets. The miniature sarcophagus is referred to in it, and is accompanied by a description and drawing of the box. D’Arcy also finds another translation of the outer carvings in the box, and a mention to the inner characters, though no reasonable explanation for them is provided.

Little is known about the box, except that it may have belonged to the obscure Nephru-Ka — also called the Black Pharaoh — who attempted to usurp the Egyptian throne sometime during the 14th Dynasty. D’Arcy reads that the sarcophagus box would have been offered to the pharaoh by the gods and that it contained a spirit, which could be summoned at any time to serve him. The archaeologists from the expedition merely discovered a small arthropod-like creature trapped in a piece of amber within the box.

For several years the box remained in the possession of the Snyders, a rich family from the United Kingdom, until it was stolen during the 50s and never laid eyes on again.

D’Arcy and Mark go back to Peter’s side in time to see him finish reading the diary. There is an expression of contempt in his face, and he says that all this is science-fiction material to say the best. D’Arcy replies that nonetheless the story is exceedingly strange, and the factual evidence they’ve been coming across is making her feel a little uneasy.

Driven in part by curiosity and a desire to fulfil the last wishes of Professor Merryweather, D’Arcy insists that they should go to Ross Corners tomorrow. Mark agrees. Peter sniggers and says that it will be nothing but a waste of time, but he reckons it wouldn’t hurt to check the farm cottage and look for the big bad monster.

Mark suggests that this matter would be better discussed over dinner and invites the two investigators for a seafood meal with him and Anna. D’Arcy eagerly accepts. Peter less so, but since his eating habits are now more a subject of matter over mind, he concedes to join them.

Afterwards, Mark phones the hospital and inquires about the state of Professor Merryweather. He puts on a grave expression and informs the other investigators that the old man had passed away little after his seizure.

08.30 p.m. – The group assembles near the restaurant. They sit outside where the temperature is more agreeable and order their meal. D’Arcy, Anna and Mark choose crab, but Peter prefers something that doesn’t require being cracked by a hammer.

Peter feels rather uncomfortable watching Mark and Anna exchange long glances and tender words, so he chooses to focus on Veronique instead. He asks her about the miniature sarcophagus. D’Arcy guarantees him the box is quite safe and that no harm will ever come to it.

Fearful of losing possession over the artefact, Peter reveals her that he intends to keep it hidden for a while and then sell it for some much-needed money. Veronique admits that she herself was thinking of doing the same, and so they strike a bargain to get rid of the artefact after the whole ordeal is over and then split the profit, fifty percent each.

The antiquarian insists on keeping the artefact and overseeing the sale, much to Peter’s disappointment. He attempts another threatening gaze at her, but fails miserably.

The remaining of the night winds on, and plans for the following day are set. They agree to meet at 9.00 a.m. in front of Ye Olde Pilgrim and then head for Ross Corners to investigate the cottage.

After dinner, the investigators retire to their houses. Both D’Arcy and Mark offer Peter a lift home, but he politely refuses. He prefers to take a walk before calling off the day, to think about his miserable life and quietly cry his heartbreak in loneliness.

Saturday, August 14th 1999

08.45 a.m. – Peter is startled by the sound of sirens outside. The sound keeps coming closer, so he leaps out of bed and peeks through the window. It turns out to be an ambulance. It pulls over near the building across the street. Peter sighs in relief.

09.00 a.m. – The group gathers in front of Ye Olde Pilgrim. D’Arcy has her shiny BMW Z3 set up for the trip, and Mark brings his convertible automobile. Peter arrives shortly after, walking down the street. Because he was forced to sell his car
 one month ago, he asks D’Arcy for a lift.

Ross Corners is located to the west of Arkham and consists of a dozen small buildings, about thrice that number in people, and an infinite amount of boredom. Tourist highlights include a tiny church, the general store and gas station, the milk reservoir, and a quiet old man who nods and grins incessantly at the sound of foreign languages.

D’Arcy parks her smart BMW Z3 in front of the general store. She and Peter get out and enter the building in order to obtain directions to the farm, while Mark waits outside in his posh automobile.

A man reclining on a chair and clutching a magazine in his hands is looking after the store. Technically looking after the store, that is, because he pays no attention whatsoever to the two investigators that have just entered. D’Arcy and Peter try to make themselves noticed, but to no avail. The clerk ignores them entirely, and grumbles softly to himself.

When they are about to desist, a woman walks in from the backroom to attend them. D’Arcy, in her ever cute French accent, enquires the clerk about the location of the abandoned farm. The woman frowns at the smell of foreign blood. Peter steps in, trying to save the day, but since he is one of those dyed-in-the-wool Brits with an accent to match, his help doesn’t amount to much.

To soften the clerk’s suspicions, D’Arcy decides to purchase some edibles for the trip. Peter reminds her that they are not on a picnic, but since the money is not his to spend and he is quite hungry himself, he gives up stressing the point. D’Arcy also buys a small flashlight, just in case it may come in handy.

The clerk finally tells them that the place they are looking for lies to the north along Boone Road. They thank her and promptly exit the store.

The three investigators are now driving up Boone Road, until they reach what appears to be the farm. They can see a ruined 19th Century cottage from the road. The slanted roof concealing an attic is curved inwards, an obvious sign of decay and abandon. As the group approaches the house through a dirty rough trail, they notice the etchings made by Allen Marion around the doors and windows of the building. Without shadow of doubt, this is the haunted farm of the Black Brotherhood.

They get out of their cars and walk towards the front entrance. The door is locked, but Peter has the large key he got from Professor Merryweather in his pocket. Peter inserts it into the rusted lock and turns the handle. The door creaks open to reveal a dusty, dark room, its floor littered with all sorts of debris. The group enters.

Peter tells D’Arcy there is no monster to be seen, as he kept saying from the very beginning. He is about to suggest that they should leave when he perceives a faint creaking noise from underneath the ground. The others can’t hear anything, so he immediately dismisses it as belonging to some sort of animal that found its way into the house.

D’Arcy says they should check the rest of the dwelling as well, and opens another door to a room in the back. This chamber is as dirty as the first one, however the trash piling on the ground looks much more recent. Among the rubble they can glimpse an empty canister of pork meat oozing a streak of putrid sauce. There is also a fireplace showing signs of having been lighted recently; and another door, leading outside, is ajar. A flight of stairs vanishes into the gloom of a basement, and there is a trapdoor on the ceiling, surrounded by Marion’s already familiar symbols.

Peter states that some vagabond probably inhabits the house, and the noise he heard just then could have been the fellow hiding in the cellar. Peter sets is mind to investigate the lower level of the house and clear up matters as to what has been «haunting» the house.

While Peter tentatively peers at the darkness below, D’Arcy examines a ruined cupboard set against one of the walls. In the top shelf they discover a wooden cigar box and a small stack of old papers.

Inside the box she finds two other boxes, each containing strange powdered substances. One is brownish, and Mark says it appears like sulphur or maybe copper oxide. The other is silvery, and has them stumped as to what it may be. Mark rubs some on the tips of his fingers. It has a strange texture and adheres to the skin. Peter approaches to see whatever it was that his companions have found.

As for the documents, they are dated March ’56. They do not recognize the handwriting; it is probably Marion’s calligraphy. The first sheets are in Latin and appear to be exact duplicates of each other. There are six of them. The seventh, eighth and ninth papers inform D’Arcy and the gang that the previous annotations had been extracted from De Vermiis Mysteriis, and that they contain the prayer required to release the spirit from its amber prison. The tenth page depicts the pentagram and describes the reagents necessary for the rite.

The remaining pages detail the ceremony of summonation as well as of banishment: banishing the spirit simply requires performing the ritual backwards. They also instruct that in order to be successful, the ritual must start at precisely midnight, and that it must last for at least two full hours without interruptions. It is recommended that more than one person be used, so the spell casters can take turns in reciting the prayer, and that another person should serve as sentinel and protect his or her companions from the torment of restless evil spirits.

D’Arcy reveals that she would like to perform this ritual just to be sure that any spirits are gone, adding that she would feel a lot better that way and poor old Professor Merryweather would finally rest in peace.

Peter scoffs at her decision and absolutely refuses to take part in any such ridiculous activity. He insists there is no monster whatsoever and that they can all go home now. D’Arcy insists to stay until midnight and do her best. Mark endorses her position. Having no transportation in which to return to Arkham, Peter agrees to stay. At most he can oversee the ritual and play the role of «sentinel», but he will not sit around hollering some mantra of Latin gobbledegook for two hours.

Suddenly, another sound is heard from the basement. Peter goes halfway down the stairs, calling out for the person he believes is there, and telling him or her not to be afraid. Since it is too dark to see, he waits for D’Arcy and Mark to fetch some source of light from their cars.

The antiquarian comes back with the small flashlight she bought. She is also carrying a light crossbow that she had taken from her shop before their departure. Veronique «William Tell» D’Arcy joins Peter in the stairs, hands him the flashlight and walks after him with her crossbow ready to fire. He enters the darkened cellar.

Out of the shadows, Veronique glimpses a wooden club dropping on Peter’s head right in front of her. Peter is knocked to the ground and a ragged man springs out of the gloom in her direction, set for a second blow. Immediately reacting, D’Arcy fires her crossbow without even aiming.

Unfortunately for everyone,
 the bolt shoots straight into the man’s left eye socket. He falls over backwards and crumbles down the steps he was starting to climb. The sight of blood strongly disturbs D’Arcy. She sees flashes of white, so she tries to sit down on the steps but ends up fainting.

Mark slaps D’Arcy’s face until she regains consciousness. She realises she has just murdered a man. D’Arcy remains sitting on the stairs, chattering to herself in terror. Mark steps into the basement past the dead man’s body and hauls the unconscious burglar upstairs. Peter is bleeding rather nastily from a gash in his head.

Not wishing to be left alone with the dead tramp, D’Arcy quickly grabs her crossbow and the flashlight dropped by Peter, and hurries up the stairs after the two.

Mark is tending the burglar’s injury, improvising a bandage out of Peter’s own shirt.
 D’Arcy is concerned with the murder and what the Police may uncover, since death by crossbow bolt is something that tends to raise serious misgivings among law enforcement agencies.

D’Arcy and Mark are unsure about what to do with the dead man in the basement. They finally make up their minds to conceal the body and not mention it to anyone, including Peter. Mark goes downstairs and hides the corpse in the darkest corner of the cellar.

In the meantime, Peter whimpers as he wakes up. He is a little amnesiac and pretty indisposed. His head aches and he is startled when he notices his bleeding. D’Arcy slowly talks him out of his confusion and tells him to eat some of what she has brought from the general store. He constantly asks her what happened, until she gives in and reveals the truth. Peter has the psychological equivalent of a mild heart attack and tells her — again — they should leave the place as soon as possible.

Mark returns carrying a small stepladder. They are unsure whether they should check the rest of the cottage, namely the attic, but Mark says he’ll just take a look. He sets the ladder under the trapdoor and climbs it. Lifting the trapdoor, Mark peeks inside. The attic floor is littered with the remains of small animals, mainly birds and rats.

Without warning, the sound of fast thundering strides comes from above and the house quakes with their echoes. Mark is knocked down the ladder and falls to the ground, hurting his shoulder.

The violent noise makes D’Arcy and Peter start to their feet.
 They ask Mark if he has seen anything. He hasn’t.

A little uncertain about what to believe, Peter insists one more time there is no monster haunting the house. Mark challenges him to go into the attic and find that out for himself. Peter immediately accepts, mainly to spite the other man. Mark sets up the ladder for him and shoves the flashlight into his hands.

Peter climbs the stepladder and flips the trapdoor open. Gingerly, he thrusts his head in and looks around. He is about to say no evil spirits are there when a frightful bellow freezes them to the very marrow of their bones. The sound of heavy stomps booms throughout the house again.

Something dreadful, only half-visible and yet impossible to be looked at, rushes towards Peter’s head and clutches it in its shapeless paws. Peter struggles and ends up knocking the ladder from his feet. The others are horrified at seeing Peter’s body dangle from the hole in the ceiling, seized by some unseen beast lurking in the attic.

Mark grabs Peter’s legs. Peter hears his neck giving in under the strain and yells. The creature lets go of his head, and he falls over Mark. The trapdoor above them slams shut.

Mark scrambles from underneath the man. Peter is covered in blood. He has a great deal of ugly cuts on either side of his face, and a piece of his left ear is missing. He groans and mumbles as D’Arcy cleans up his wounds and fastens his head in another makeshift bandage.

05.00 p.m. – Fuelled by fear or madness (or both), the group decides to wait until midnight and perform the ritual to banish the creature back to the nether regions. Mark gathers the box of powder and reads Marion’s instructions carefully. D’Arcy readies the fireplace and Peter chalks the pentagram on the ground in accordance to the design on the pages left behind by the Brotherhood.

The three sit down on the floor and eat the food D’Arcy purchased that morning at the general store. Peter is still a little bit unwilling to believe there is a monster in the attic; maybe it is a wild animal or something like that. Anyway, he is unable to convince his companions — and perhaps even himself — to give up the ritual.

09.00 p.m. – The sun sinks behind the horizon line. Suddenly, the clatter of ponderous steps comes from the attic. There is a shrill hiss that wrings the investigators nerves and a whisper like the wind blowing away from them.

D’Arcy hurries up setting the fireplace alight. The wait continues.

11.55 p.m. – The group exchanges nervous glances. They inspect their wristwatches with a patent expression of uneasiness. The hour is at hand, so the investigators take their places for the ritual. Peter sets watch while D’Arcy and Mark begin intoning the Latin words on Allen Marion’s pages, repeating them over and over again. The repetitive chanting gradually absorbs D’Arcy and Peter, until it comes out of them almost mechanically.

Sunday, August 15th 1999

00.15 a.m. – D’Arcy’s speech starts to falter. The repetitive chanting is making her head spin.

00.20 a.m. – An infernal scream is heard. The house shakes on its foundations, causing objects to drop from their shelves and dust to fall from the ceiling. The ceiling appears to lower and the walls to bend under some incredible weight of unknown proportions. The never-ending howl becomes more and more excruciating.

00.30 a.m. – A foul stench invades the room. Blobs of green ooze start to leak from the ceiling, falling in heavy drops around the investigators. Peter hesitantly pokes a small puddle of the viscous material with his shoe.

The ritual is nearly interrupted when D’Arcy is hit on the leg by a drop. She lets out a muffled cry of pain as the stain gnaws its way through the fabric of her clothes and burns her skin. Ignoring the pain in her leg, she immediately resumes the prayer, signalling the others to beware the bleeding acid.

As quickly as it started, the rain of acid then halts.

01.00 a.m. – The ceremony drones on into its second hour. Nothing strange has happened since the acid rain stopped, but they can’t help feeling anxiety creeping up on them.

D’Arcy and Mark are beginning to feel very tired, whereas Peter gives fretful strides around the room. Much to everybody’s surprise, he picks up one of the papers containing the chant’s transcription and joins his companions in the ceremony.

D’Arcy grabs her chance to take a break from the monotonous rite. Wielding her crossbow, she nervously patrols the room just in case anything wicked decides to show up.

01.30 a.m. – D’Arcy hears a faint cry from outside. Peering through the dirty windowpanes into the dark night, she sees nothing at first, but soon notices movement in the shadows. It appears to be an old woman, ambling towards the house in a slow lumbering gait, and moaning inarticulate cries for help.

Noticing the French antiquarian staring through the window, the strange woman gives out a loud wail and starts moving towards her. D’Arcy shrinks in fright and sends off a terrified gaze at the two men chanting in the room.

With not a pause in uttering the incantation, Peter frantically gestures at D’Arcy, telling her to stay put and pay attention to the ritual.

All of a sudden, Mark shrieks in terror. D’Arcy turns in time to see the vagabond she slaughtered earlier that day skulk out of the shadows in her direction.
 She screams and tries dashing away from the animated corpse, but it manages to grab her by the throat. Peter turns his head and is horrified at the sight, but fortunately manages to keep reciting the words with naught but a slight waver of his voice.

Unable to escape the dead man’s grasp, D’Arcy fires the crossbow. The bolt is driven through his thigh, but the stiff gives no sign of bleeding or of pain.
 Notwithstanding, the man shows to be slightly miffed at D’Arcy, since she is lifted into the air and flung through the window, crossbow and all, falling outside the house in a bed of shattered glass.

Mark regains his self-control and, picking up the chant where he left it, pulls out his handgun. Peter dodges the line of fire and nods Mark to fire at will. The undead man catches the first bullet square in the face, having his jaw blown apart.

The two men are dismayed at seeing the corpse steadily advance towards them with not so much as a wince from the gunshot. Mark fires two more times, and misses. A fourth bullet lodges in the man’s thorax, and another smashes one of the knees. Mark misses the sixth shot, and the resonant blasts from his revolver are finally replaced by the frenzied clicking of an empty chamber.

Outside the house, D’Arcy picks herself up only to feel a new pair of hands clutching her neck. She quickly spins on her feet and swings the crossbow at her attacker without even looking. A pity she didn’t look, because the blow only manages to scratch the pasty visage of her foe. It is the woman she had observed moments before from the window. The woman, like the vagabond within the cottage, also happens to be dead.

D’Arcy is pushed back on to the ground and, having slid on top of her, the corpse strengthens the grip around the girl’s throat. It is getting difficult to breathe.

Back inside, Mark’s hands shake violently as he attempts to reload his gun. His voice falters in the intonation, but he keeps on going. Peter rushes outside to search for D’Arcy, having already memorised the chant and shouting it at the top of his lungs.

D’Arcy is having a hard time keeping the air in her lungs, and her efforts to resist the dead woman’s assault dwindle by the second. Peter immediately rushes to her assistance and tries to knock the dead woman down, but she resists and pushes him aside with supernatural force.

Mark’s gun is heard once again and his chanting grows unsteady.

Peter leaps to his feet and repeatedly smacks the living dead in the face, but with no practical results. He even tries poking his fingers into her eyes, and is sickened to feel them sinking in under the pressure. Meanwhile, D’Arcy’s face has turned bluish and breathing is now a more problematical issue than ever.

Sinking into frustration, Peter clutches the woman from behind. He gnashes his teeth as he pulls her away from Veronique, and they both fall backwards. The released D’Arcy rolls to her side, gasping for air.

Peter hurls the struggling corpse away and scrambles back to D’Arcy, helping her to her feet and running behind her back into the dwelling. They slam the door behind them and bar it with a heavy wooden beam.

All the time, Mark kept firing his weapon, blasting the vagabond to pieces as he approached. The dead man’s face has been so abused that it could now be easily mistaken for a hamburger. There’s a final round of ammo, and the vagabond collapses to the floor.

Mark seizes this chance to pick up the body and immediately throws it out the window. The vagabond instantly leaps to his feet upon hitting the ground. Meanwhile, his female counterpart roams outside the house, figuring a way to enter.

Still in shock, D’Arcy resumes her former position in the ceremony and begins chanting under her breath.

The investigators hear the sound of a window being smashed in the room next door and heavy pounding on the front entrance. D’Arcy half opens the door and peeps into the darkened chamber. Nothing appears to have entered through the front. They decide to stand firm and proceed with the ritual.

01.50 a.m. – The howls and grunts from the attic take on a horrid form, as much as that is still possible. It is complete chaos; glass shards and small rocks are flung in bursts around the room by invisible hands.

01.55 a.m. – All of a sudden, everything calms. A faint cone of smoke materialises in the centre of the pentagram and gradually thickens. After a moment it starts assuming the faded shape of a nightmarish creature.

01.57 a.m. – The vision waxes dreadful before the investigator’s eyes, yet they press on with the ceremony.

02.00 a.m. – The smoke clears and all is silent. Exhausted, Mark drops to the floor and leans against the wall. Peter takes his head in both hands and sits down on the ground. D’Arcy falls to her knees and looks around at the ravaged room.

D’Arcy and Peter discuss what to do next, and settle for erasing all or most proof of their presence in the cottage. Mark and Peter collect the two really dead bodies from outside the house and bury them in the basement, while D’Arcy cleans up the pentagram and puts out the fireplace.

They are all tired and upset, and Peter requires immediate medical assistance. The investigators get inside their cars and drive away into the night, avoiding go past Ross Corners for fear of being seen.

It is not without a certain amount of relief and satisfaction that they leave the farm for behind. Nonetheless, the haunting memories of this accursed day will regrettably endure forever, and trouble…

Well, trouble is just about to begin.

Monday, August 16th 1999 (Epilogue)

10.00 p.m. – Silence fills the studio. People run back and forth behind the sets, as it is customary whenever a live programme is about to go on the air. There is a catchy musical introduction. The news anchor turns on his chair to face the camera. He greets the viewers and takes a quick look at the laptop computer in front of him.

“Good evening and welcome to the ten o’clock news bulletin.

“The village of Ross Corners near Arkham faces troubled times since the strange disappearance of a local resident last Friday. Our outdoors team is on the spot, covering the police investigation.”
He turns to a wide video screen in the background where a young woman reporter is being displayed. Behind her, a group of locals gawp at the camera in curiosity, now and then waving a hand at their moms back home.

“Good evening, Patrick,” she begins.

“Ross Corners is still puzzled by the sudden disappearance of Mrs. Willis, a farmer’s wife who vanished last Friday night after leaving her house to check on the animals in the barn. Mr. Willis claims that the animals were sounding restless for quite a long time, so he asked his wife to take a look for him. That was the last time anyone saw her.

“After a somewhat messy start, the police force is already on the case. Search parties have been deployed and are as of this moment surveying the fields in search of clues. The officers are also compiling a list of suspects. We have been informed of a homeless man wandering the region for some days before Mrs. Willis disappearance and that three other individuals have gone past Ross Corners on Saturday morning. One of them would have been a French Canadian woman, and the other two were presumably Americans, one of which posing as British for reasons so far unknown.

“Reliable sources in the Arkham Police Department guarantee that the Willis case is totally unrelated to the dead cow discovered Saturday morning with its heart torn out.

“Meanwhile, the investigation continues and the Police Department expects to send out a press release tomorrow morning.

“At Ross Corners, this is Jane Dunway with camerawork by Earl Dreyfus. Good evening.”
� Actually, that was the animated corpse of a witch containing the soul of investigator Sharon Graves. Since Peter doesn’t really believe in any paranormal mumbo jumbo, the witch is still just «an old woman» to him.





For all inquisitive souls out there: previous session logs for the full account of Sharon Graves’ tragic saga can be found at Raquel’s web site. So, kindly point your browser to http://www.GeoCities.com/eowynbug/Cthulhu/.


� Though she preferred to make use of the term «wife» at the time.


� Which is debatable if one considers the milkman’s itinerary about thirty years ago.


� Peter would have said that Mark is nothing more than «a buggered stuck-up bastard» and «a bloody show-off» but then again this opinion is thickly biased.


� It is a well-known fact that these things have to be done in the nick of time.


� No one knows why this always happens whenever critical information is being revealed.


� On the basis that Peter would feel a lot safer if he could sell the artefact and keep the money all for himself.


� We are hoping this can explain footnote 4.


� For the inexperienced adventurer and role-playing gamer, this is a rather popular variant of the «Only You Can Save The World» cliché. In this specific case the old man had 43 years to clean up the horrible mess he has done, but of course he leaves it for last, so that a party of hapless characters can stick their necks on the line for him.


� Which evidently does not exist (or so he hopes).


� For lack of a better word. People usually recognised it as a vehicle because of the dangling license plate. The mere prospect of selling a thing such as that one would have made a seasoned auto salesman cower in fear and run for his life. Just the fact that Peter did manage to get rid of the car without pushing it off a cliff stands as a paranormal phenomenon all by itself.


� As a matter of fact, Mr. Caradhras from a different property up along Boone Road has similar signs carved around the many doors of his farmstead. He piously believes they make his cattle healthy and his crops plentiful; not to mention they have even helped him on that slight bowel embarrassment of his. The «bowel embarrassment» wasn’t that big a deal to solve, since most Mythos-related material can literally scare the living crap out of anyone.


� And the vagabond in particular.


� Of course Mark wouldn’t be tearing his expensive suit to shreds, whereas D’Arcy is already scantily clad as she is.


� Yet again, maybe not Peter. He is still trying to figure out whether he is standing or not.


� As usual, using bits and pieces of Peter’s clothes. Peter now looks more like an awfully scruffy Invisible Man wearing a shirt with no sleeves.


� This demonstrates once again why killing people is A Bad Thing TM. 


� Not surprisingly because, all things considered, the man is deceased.


� She ought to be, anyway. A hole where one’s heart should stay is not among the foremost symptoms of vitality.


� A great deal of force, that is. It is necessary to be specific since any measure of strength, when coming from a dead person, is typically regarded as something supernatural.


� These people represent one of the greatest mysteries of modern civilisation. They spend a lifetime wishing for their fifteen minutes of fame and, when the chance finally comes, they spend it all in making complete idiots out of themselves.





